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ABOUT US
The HIV/AIDS Legal Centre (HALC) is a not-
for-profit, specialist community legal centre, 
and the only one of its kind in Australia. 

We work to provide free and comprehensive legal assistance to 
people in NSW with HIV or Hepatitis related legal matters and 
have been offering these services for almost 30 years. HALC also 
undertakes Community Legal Education and Law Reform activities 
in areas relating to HIV and Hepatitis to tackle the severe stigma and 
discrimination associated with HIV and Hepatitis.  

As a legal centre that provides full-scope legal services, we 
understand the value of not only providing clients with initial advice, 
but providing ongoing representation during their legal matters, 
including before courts and tribunals. HALC undertakes a holistic 
approach in assisting clients to ensure their legal disputes are dealt 
with in their totality, which may also include referring clients to a 
range of support services to mitigate the risk of future legal problems 
arising.

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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OUR VISION, 
OUR MISSION, 
OUR VALUES
To see an end to the HIV crisis.

To provide free and comprehensive legal assistance 
to anyone with an HIV and/or Hepatitis-related legal 
problems who falls under our funding agreements and 
to undertake community legal education and law reform 
activities in areas relating to HIV and Hepatitis.

To provide high quality legal services whilst displaying an 
appreciation of, and sensitivity to, the special needs of 
people with HIV and/or Hepatitis related legal matters.
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PRINCIPAL 
SOLICITOR REPORT
Alexandra Stratigos, Principal Solicitor

The HIV/AIDS Legal Centre continued to progress our ambit to be 
a specialist in HIV related law. As an HIV/AIDS and viral hepatitis 
specialist legal centre, HALC is among just a few centres of a similar 
nature worldwide. We continue to test and progress the laws 
pertaining to the rights and responsibilities of people with HIV and 
viral hepatitis and ensure that people with HIV and viral hepatitis 
can participate in the community on an equal basis with others – a 
challenge that continues to exist in 2022. 

Australia’s 8th National HIV Strategy for 2018-2022 (the National 
Strategy) recognised the role that the advancement of legal and human 
rights protections plays in reducing HIV prevalence and morbidity.  The 
National Strategy aptly identified some of the human rights issues for 
HIV as being stigma and discrimination, access to medical care and 
privacy, harm reduction, the criminalisation of HIV transmission and 
the intersection between criminalisation and public health laws as well 
as principles of mutual responsibility. However, the National Strategy 
fails to identify a plan to address many of these issues which HIV 
organisations have also struggled to effectively tackle. 

In addition to continuing to actively support the objectives of the 
National Strategy in relation the identified human rights issues, 
HALC’s role also addresses the broader health and social impacts 
of HIV and its prevention among core communities at risk.  HALC 
has also identified several areas that are not listed in the National 
Strategy which continue to impact upon the daily lives of people 
with HIV and viral hepatitis.  We routinely advise and represent 
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people with HIV/hepatitis and those identified in the National Strategy 
as priority populations in housing, debt, criminal law, mental health, 
social security, family law, discrimination, end of life planning, insurance, 
employment, immigration, and privacy matters among others.  

In 2021/22 HALC continued to break down the barriers that stigma 
and discrimination creates by providing legal services in many matters 
with a nexus to HIV or viral hepatitis, and where the issues are relevant 
to the client being enabled to participate in the community on a 
meaningful and equal basis. The service approaches its mission in line 
with the approach promoted by the National Strategy to promote the 
health and wellbeing of all people with HIV.  The approach encourages 
responsive, adaptive and evidence-based action. In this way HALC 
provides legal services relevant to the overarching goal and specific 
objectives of the National Strategy thereby helping to support 
knowledge translation between health and the law.   

Despite the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic and working 
at reduced capacity during lockdown, HALC continued to be 
predominantly a casework representation service, acknowledging that 
achieving systemic change for vulnerable clients usually requires more 
than one-off advice or referrals. 

Due to the continued development of staff and volunteer skills and 
capacity, we have been able to assist clients in all facets of their 
legal matters from start to finish including running complex litigation 
proceedings, matters in the Federal Court and Federal Circuit Court, 
NCAT, AAT and Local Courts; HALC solicitors attended courts or 
tribunals for 104 matters, many involving more than one attendance. 
We managed these attendances often via AVL during lock-down 
periods; AVL facilities which are now widely available throughout 
many jurisdictions have actually made it easier to reach more people 
in varied locations. 

HALC maintained the delivery of services by being available  
throughout the week by telephone, email or direct contact at the office. 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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We also provided outreach services to people in hospital, custody, 
immigration detention and in rural and regional areas on an as needed 
basis.  Hospital and outreach visits continue to be a very valuable 
service to clients and families of people with HIV. 

While the scope of our funding is limited to providing services in NSW, 
and to QLD under the QPP partnership agreement, we continue to 
be contacted by prospective clients and service providers Australia-
wide. This disappointingly means that many people with HIV related 
legal matters who live interstate had to go without assistance. Our 
volunteer program enabled us to represent some interstate clients 
including in immigration, discrimination, employment and insurance. 
We hope to be able to secure additional funding in the future to reach 
those interstate clients that fall through the cracks. 

Our links with stakeholders, including healthcare providers, provides 
a strong referral pathway for clients to link with our service. This has 
also enabled us to refer clients to medical services where needed 
to preserve their health and address health related matters which 
may have contributed to their need for legal assistance. Relationship 
building and maintenance is actively pursued with service providers, 
social workers, allied healthcare workers, and medical professionals, 
including by way of training delivery, in-service attendances and 
through informal connections. For many client matters, the support 
provided by the client’s treating team plays a crucial role in the 
successful outcome of matters.

HALC also participates in community engagement through the 
delivery of community and professional legal education to people 
with HIV, solicitors, doctors, and others who work in the HIV sector. 
HALC staff presented at conferences and participated on panels 
throughout Australia and internationally. 

HALC continued to utilise and maintain a referral list of practitioners 
and engaged the services of pro bono counsel on several matters 
including public interest/test case matters in a range of jurisdictions. 
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During the year, HALC also worked at promoting the goals of the 
National Strategy by delivering submissions and policy statements 
across a broad range of important areas relating to the health and 
wellbeing of our communities, including in relation to mandatory 
disease testing, consent laws, discrimination laws, and sex work laws. 
HIV related legal literacy was also increased though community and 
continuing legal education, and community stakeholder engagement. 
We have provided education to the community and professionals on 
HIV and the law within NSW and interstate and have also contributed 
to the education of medical and public health students and contributed 
to national and international discussions on HIV and the law. 

I am proud of the huge number of successful outcomes we have 
achieved for clients this year that are showcased throughout this 
report and the significant volume of work that we have completed 
despite pandemic related setbacks. This level of success would not 
be possible without the dedication and commitment of HALC staff 
and volunteers. I thank the staff and volunteers for their hard work, 
good humour and commitment over the year. It is this dedication that 
results in life changing and successful outcomes for our clients. 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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Discrete Services Representation Services

65 Referrals

73 Information

501 Legal Advices

84  
Legal Tasks

A SNAPSHOT OF 
2021/22 

723
Total services

16 Dispute Resolution 
Services

104 Court  
& Tribunal 

Services

280 Other 
Representation 

Services

400
Total services
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Legal Advice by Problem Type

Representation by Problem Type

55%  Immigration

66%  Immigration

16%  Criminal

7%  Consumer / credit & debt

5%  Discrimination

9%  Criminal

6%  Discrimination

10%  Other Civil Law Problem Type

3%  Housing

2%  Family, DV & AVOs

1%  Employment

6%  End of life planning

3%  Consumer / 
credit & debt

2%   Family Law 

3%  Health/Mental Health

2%  Domestic Violence

2%  Other Civil Law Problem Type

1%  Housing

1%  End of life planning
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8%
of clients have 
experienced domestic 
and family violence

69%
of clients are  
culturally and 
linguistically diverse

88%
of clients experienced 
financial disadvantage

2%
of clients were 
homeless or at risk of 
homelessness

CLIENT 
DEMOGRAPHICS

Client Gender

Client Age

71% Male
23% Female

6% Other

0 18 25 35 50 65

2
12

152

78

22

171
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CLIENT SATISFACTION 
SURVEY 2021
This year Community Legal Centres NSW 
(CLCNSW) coordinated the NSW biennial 
Client Survey for 2021-2022. 

Clients who were provided with legal assistance in October 2021 were 
asked to complete a survey about the delivery and impact of HALC’s 
services. Of the 257 clients that were provided one-off or on-going 
legal assistance in October, 105 clients completed the survey.  

Statistics from the client satisfaction survey:

Impact of HALC Services96%
of clients stated HALC was 
easy to contact when they 
first needed help

99%
of clients stated HALC helped 
them understand how to deal 
with their legal problem

99%
of clients stated HALC helped 
them understand their rights 
and responsibilities

Your wellbeing

Your level of stress?

Your safety?

Your housing situation?

Your money situation?

Made it worse

Made it a little better
Made no change

Made it much better
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What our clients have to say:

“Had I not contacted [HALC] I may have been paying 
for a policy that would not cover me the way I hoped 
due to my HIV status.”

“Good service, patient and they gave me all the 
information I needed.”

“Thank you so much for everything you guys have done 
for me. You changed my life.”

“HALC were helpful and I don’t know what I’d do without 
them.”

“Since I was involved with HALC I had a peace of mind 
and the transparency, exceptional understanding of my 
circumstances and ways to help me in a legal system 
that is complex and foreign to me was like an oasis 
in desert. I lack words to describe how much I feel 
empowered, and with rights.“

“Thanks to HALC a hospital in a regional area has been 
educated about HIV and hopefully that will continue. 
HALC made me feel empowered (rather than powerless)”

“I have come a long journey with HALC and they have 
been with me every step of the way. I believe in HALC 
and rely on them at all times.”
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OUR ADVOCACY AND 
LAW REFORM WORK

This year HALC launched our updated 
‘Disclosing Your HIV Status: A Guide 
to Some of the Legal Issues – Western 
Australia’. The guide explores a range 
of situations where disclosure of a 
person’s HIV status may or may not 
be legally required. The updated guide 
joins our other guides that provide 
information on HIV disclosure and 
the law in New South Wales, Victoria, 
Queensland, and South Australia. 
These guides aim to equip people 
living with HIV with the knowledge 
to navigate the complicated legal 
requirements of when they need to 
disclose their HIV status. 

We would like to thank the WA 
Department of Health for providing 
funding for the publication and to 
WAAC, NAPWHA, POWA and people 
living with HIV for their assistance and 
input in the drafting of the guide. 

DISCLOSING YOUR HIV STATUS

A GUIDE TO SOME  
OF THE LEGAL ISSUES
– 
WESTERN AUSTRALIA

HIV/AIDS LEGAL CENTRE INCORPORATED (NSW)  
ABN 39 045 530 926

Western Australia Disclosure Guide
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Western Australia Disclosure Guide Religious Discrimination Bill

The Religious Discrimination Bill 2022 was introduced into federal 
parliament in November 2021. Discussion of the proposed legislation 
first emerged in 2017 in the wake of the same-sex marriage plebiscite. 
HALC recognises the need provide protections against discrimination 
on the grounds of religious belief but were concerned with provisions 
of the Bill that prioritise the rights of individuals and organisations 
who hold a religious belief over the rights of others. 

HALC and the National Association of People with HIV Australia 
(NAPWHA) made joint submissions to the Parliamentary Joint 
Committee on Human Rights identifying several issues with the 
legislation. Our submissions specifically highlighted concerns with the 
‘statement of belief’ provision whereby a statement of belief would 
not constitute discrimination under any federal, state or territory anti-
discrimination legislation. Our organisations were concerned that the 
Bill would only further drive stigmatising and discriminatory behaviour 
by providing legal protections to those who would target people 
living with HIV, members of the LGBTQI+ communities, sex workers, 
people who inject drugs and people living with disabilities.

In February 2022 the Morrison government shelved the bill indefinitely 
after five Liberal MPs crossed the floor against the Morrison 
government to amend the Sex Discrimination Act adding protections 
for LGBTQI+ students. 

halc.org.au  |  19



HIV Online Learning Australia (HOLA) – Criminalisation of HIV

HOLA is a workforce development program by the Australian Federation 
of AIDS Organisations (AFAO) and NAPWHA to assist people working 
for State and Territory AIDS Councils and people living with HIV 
organisations around Australia to develop their knowledge and skills. 
HALC was invited to present on the criminalisation of HIV transmission 
and exposure in Australia under both criminal and public health laws. 
The criminalisation of HIV in Australia continues to negatively impact 
government public health initiatives as well as the mental health 
of people living with HIV in Australia due to sensationalised media 
reporting. A recent study conducted by NAPWHA found that ‘the 
criminalisation of HIV transmission, likely reinforced by ongoing media 
reporting around the issue, has contributed to considerable anxiety 
among people living with HIV in Australia.1 

Queensland Anti-Discrimination Act

In May 2021, the Queensland Human Rights Commission (QHRC) 
began the process of reviewing the Queensland Anti-Discrimination 
Act 1991. Queensland Positive People (QPP), NAPWHA and HALC 
were invited to meet with members of the QHRC to provide our 
views on the legislation in its current form. Our organisations made 
joint submissions to the Commission outlining the experiences of 
people living with HIV, highlighting the areas in which the legislation is 
protecting our communities, and in what areas further protections are 
required. Our submission can be found on our website.  

1  Adam Bourne, G. J. Melendez-Torres, An Thanh Ly, Paul Kidd, Aaron Cogle, Graham Brown, Anthony 
Lyons, Marina Carman, John Rule & Jennifer Power (2021): Anxiety about HIV criminalisation among 
people living with HIV in Australia, AIDS Care, DOI: 10.1080/09540121.2021.1936443

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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Joint Australasian HIV & AIDS Conference 2022

Alexandra Stratigos, Principal Solicitor of HALC, was invited to 
present on HIV and immigration at the Joint Australasian HIV & AIDS 
Conference this year. Due to the strict health criteria for Australian 
visas, a person living with HIV can only meet the requirements for 
permanent visas which have provision for a health waiver. Many 
migrants are first diagnosed with HIV in Australia and rely on their 
health practitioner not only to provide treatment, but also information 
about living with HIV in Australia as a migrant. 

A survey of clinicians and support workers was undertaken this 
financial year to seek the perspectives of the clinical workforce on 
legal needs facing their clients. The survey found that participants 
expressed interest in obtaining a greater understanding on a broad 
range of issues relating to migration and healthcare. HALC will 
continue to provide information to both clients and the HIV sector as 
the only community legal centre that specialises in assisting people 
living with HIV with migration matters in a holistic manner.  
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While HALC is primarily funded to represent people with HIV 
or Hepatitis related legal matters in NSW, from time to time, we 
represent people who do not have HIV or viral hepatitis but belong to 
priority populations as identified in Australia’s National HIV Strategy. 

More specifically, HALC offers representation services to men who have 
sex with men (MSM) or transgender persons who have sex with men 
(TPSM) from migrant communities who may be at risk of persecution in 
their countries of origin. This is because MSM and TPSM from migrant 
communities who are new in Australia are at higher risk of contracting 
HIV than other communities. A 2018 review of several studies on HIV 
and migration found that migrants living in high-income countries are 
disproportionately affected by HIV. It also found that the proportion 
of new HIV diagnoses who are migrants exceeds the percentage of 
foreign-born persons in the general population in nearly all high-income 
countries and is as high as 70% in some European countries.2

Vikas Parwani, 
Senior Solicitor

LEGAL SUPPORT FOR 
MIGRANT PRIORITY 
POPULATIONS KEY 
IN ACHIEVING HIV 
ELIMINATION GOALS 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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2  Ross J, Cunningham CO, Hanna DB. HIV outcomes among migrants from low-income and middle-
income countries living in high-income countries: a review of recent evidence. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 
2018 Feb;31(1):25-32. doi: 10.1097/QCO.0000000000000415. PMID: 29095720; PMCID: PMC5750122

3  Ibid

4  Callander D, Newman CE, Holt M. Is sexual racism really racism? Distinguishing attitudes 
toward sexual racism and generic racism among gay and bisexual men. Arch Sex Behav. 2015 
Oct;44(7):1991-2000. doi: 10.1007/s10508-015-0487-3. Epub 2015 Jul 7. PMID: 26149367.

There may be several reasons for these figures. The disproportionate 
risk of acquiring HIV infection that migrants face in their host countries 
likely results from a combination of factors, including stigma, increased 
risk behaviours, and limited access to HIV prevention services.3 This 
may also be due to the power imbalance that many migrants face 
during sex and because of difficulties in negotiating safer sex in their 
sexual relationships. Other reasons may be language and/or cultural 
issues as well sexual racism pervasive in the LGBTI community.4

Whatever the cause, it is evident that new migrants require specialist 
services including legal and immigration services to mitigate their risk 
of acquiring HIV. This year HALC successfully represented MSM or 
TPSM from several different countries in applications for protection 
visas including Philippines, Tonga, Samoa, Colombia, Venezuela, and 
Papua New Guinea. In each of those cases, the Department of Home 
Affairs found that there was a real chance that the applicants would 
face serious harm in their countries of origin if they returned there. 

Our clients now hold permanent residency in Australia which allows 
them a pathway towards Australian citizenship. Having permanency 
to their stay in Australia assists to tilt the power imbalance and makes 
it safer for them to negotiate safer sex with their partners. Permanent 
residency also entitles them to Medicare which helps them access 
government subsidized PrEP so they can have more control over their 
sexual practices. 

In the next year, HALC will continue to assist our migrant MSP and 
TPSM clients who are at risk of harm in their countries of origin seek 
protection in Australia. 
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5  Julie Steenhuysen, ‘HIV rate among US interavenous drug users falls: CDC’, Reuters, March 2012. 

6  Anne Bergenstrom, Vladank Andreeva and Amala Reddy, ‘Overview of epidemiology of injection 
drug use and HIV in Asia’ (Research paper United nations Office on Drugs and Crime, 2013)

Australia’s early response to the HIV epidemic is often referred to as 
‘world-leading.’  It is acknowledged that this response was largely 
underpinned by the government’s engagement with priority populations, 
health services, community, and researchers in the development of 
their programs and policy. An example of this was the ground-breaking 
introduction of the Needle and Syringe program in the 1980s at the 
height of the HIV epidemic. Met with much scepticism – people believed 
the program would condone drug use – the success of the program 
has ensured HIV transmission rates amongst people who inject drugs in 
Australia has remained considerably lower (1%) in comparison to other 
countries (9% in the United States5 and 36% in Indonesia6). Australia’s 
success in achieving such low rates of HIV transmission rates among 
people who inject drugs is a testament to the leadership of peer-based 
organisations supported by government policies. 

Rhys Evans, 
Solicitor

THE NEED FOR 
AUSTRALIA TO RETURN 
TO OUR ‘WORLD LEADING’ 
RESPONSE TO HIV
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Unfortunately, over the past financial year we have seen the NSW 
government ignore scientific evidence and public health concerns 
raised by community, researchers, and health services, passing two 
pieces of legislation which are likely to not only negatively impact 
people living with HIV (PLHIV) but also undermine the State’s public 
health response to HIV. 

Mandatory Disease Testing Act 2021

The Mandatory Disease Testing Act (MDTA) is now in force, giving 
police and other public service workers powers to require people 
to undertake mandatory disease testing for HIV and other blood-
borne viruses (BBVs). Upon release of the draft bill, an inquiry was 
established to develop a report on the Bill allowing individuals 
and organisations to provide written and oral submissions for 
consideration. HALC provided submissions arguing that the 
introduction of the legislation ignored the advice and guidance of 
national and international health bodies such as UNAIDS. HALC 
argued that a human rights approach to testing, whereby all testing 
is voluntary and undertaken with informed consent, strengthens our 
public health response to BBVs and has been pivotal to our response 
to date.7

Of the 28 submissions provided to the inquiry, 21 expressed concerns 
about the MDTA on the grounds that it would not serve the purpose 
for which it was intended – to ‘protect and promote the health and 
wellbeing of health, emergency and public sector workers’8. These 
submissions argued that the MDTA ignores current scientific evidence 
of the ‘risk’ faced by front-line workers exposed to bodily fluids 
and that its implementation would undermine NSW’s public health 
response to BBVs, fuelling further stigma and misinformation about 
transmission risks. 

7  HALC Submission to the NSW Legislative Council Standing Committee on Law and Justice 
Inquiry into the ‘Mandatory Disease Testing Bill 2020.’

8  Mandatory Disease Testing Act 2021 (NSW) s3(c). 
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9  Mandatory Disease Testing Bill 2020, Legislative Council, Standing Committee on Law and Justice 
(report, no. 76), p 14.

10  Ibid, p 40

During the hearing conducted over two days, the inquiry continued 
to hear from stakeholders about the risks the MDTA posed on human 
rights and the state’s public health response to BBVs.  
The report produced by the inquiry stated: 

‘Given the medical evidence, health professionals were of the view 
that existing polices, guidelines and procedures are sufficient in 
providing for appropriate, evidence-based treatment of workers 
exposed to a blood-borne virus, without requiring a mandatory 
blood test of a third party.’9

Although the inquiry outlined the numerous concerns held by HIV and 
BBV organisations, health practitioners and researchers, the report 
simply recommended that the Bill proceed to be debated by the 
Legislative Council and that ‘the concerns identified by stakeholders 
as set out in this report be addressed during debate in the House.’10

Unfortunately, the MDTA is now in force with very few amendments 
introduced to alleviate these concerns. HALC and other HIV and 
BBV organisations now turn to monitoring its implementation and 
minimising the damage caused by the Act by ensuring misinformation 
about transmission ‘risk’ and testing without consent does not 
undermine our public health response. 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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Crimes Legislation Amendment (Sexual Consent 
Reforms) Act 2021

In stark contrast to the MDTA, the proposed reforms to NSW consent 
laws were a welcomed process by stakeholders across different 
organisations. These new laws generally reflect community standards 
of consent acknowledging that consent is a free and voluntary 
agreement that should not be presumed. HALC welcomes many of 
the new provisions and recognises it as an important step in updating 
NSW’s consent laws, including the introduction of affirmative consent. 

The introduction of legislative amendments can sometimes 
detrimentally impact minority communities that may not have been 
considered in the bill’s development. A particular provision introduced 
in the reform is the ‘fraudulent inducement’ provision, whereby 
consent will be negated if ‘the person participates in the sexual 
activity because of a fraudulent inducement.’11 The introduction of this 
provision essentially re-introduces a requirement for PLHIV to disclose 
their HIV status to sexual partners if they are asked about their HIV 
status prior to sexual activity. 

Any legal requirement to disclose a person’s HIV status to a sexual 
partner in NSW was essentially removed in 2018 with the amendment of 
the Public Health Act. The removal of a disclosure provision in the Public 
Health Act can be attributed to the work of community organisations, 
researchers and public health experts who provided evidence of the 
detrimental impact that the provision had on NSW’s public health 
response to HIV as well as the safety and privacy of PLHIV. 

In 2019, HALC and the National Association of People with HIV 
(NAPWHA) provided submissions to the NSW law Reform Commission 
in response to the draft proposals of the sexual consent reforms.  

11  Crimes Act 1900 (NSW) s61JH(1)(k).
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12  Consent in relation to sexual offences, New South Wales Law Reform Commission (report, no 148) 
September 2020, p114. 

13 Ibid, 115.

14  https://www.afao.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/Agenda-25-Technical-Paper.pdf

These submissions raised concerns about the broad implementation 
of this specific provision and were echoed by other organisations such 
as ACON and SWOP. 

The Law Reform Commission did reference our submission in 
their report tabled in parliament noting that a similar approach in 
Canada had been ‘subject to significant criticism.’12 Unfortunately 
the report did not note any evidence provided about the impact of 
criminalisation on rates of testing and treatment, and in conclusion 
simply stated:

‘while we acknowledge these criticisms, the law must offer 
protection to complainants who are fraudulently induced to 
participate in sexual activity.’13

We are disappointed with the Commission’s recommendation 
and the passing of this specific provision. HALC and other HIV 
organisations will continue to advocate for an amendment to protect 
the rights of PLHIV.

It is important that HALC and other HIV sector organisations continue 
our work in developing and maintaining an enabling legal environment 
for PLHIV. As Australia moves closer to achieving the 95-95-95 Fast 
Track targets set by UNAIDS14, governments across Australia should 
be once again listening to and engaging with priority populations, 
health services, community, and researchers to ensure this momentum 
does not stall or decline. 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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A significant proportion of HALC’s work 
in immigration law relates to the health 
requirement for Australian visas. 

As part of the process of applying for temporary and permanent 
visas, applicants are required to undergo health examinations. The 
results of their health examinations are provided to a Medical Officer 
of the Commonwealth (MOC) who estimates the potential cost of 
the applicant’s healthcare to the Australian community, based on the 
intended visa duration for a temporary visa application, or based on 
a period of 10 years for a permanent visa application. Under current 
policy, any MOC costing estimate over $51,000 results in the applicant 
being notified that they have failed the health criteria.

Adelene Chuah, 
Solicitor

HOW AUSTRALIA’S 
VISA BACKLOG 
DISPROPORTIONATELY 
AFFECTS PLHIV
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Due to the cost of medical services and pharmaceuticals to manage 
HIV (currently approximately $12,000 per year, depending on the 
specifics of the applicant’s condition and pharmaceuticals,) people 
living with HIV (PLHIV) applying for permanent residency in Australia 
cannot meet the health requirement. This either results in the PLHIV 
having their application refused (with detrimental consequences on 
their future ability to obtain an Australian visa), or, if they have applied 
for one of the few visas with provision for a discretionary health waiver, 
they are invited to provide evidence of their ability to mitigate the costs 
of their health and/or demonstrate compelling and compassionate 
reasons why the health requirement should be waived in their case.

HALC has a long history of representing PLHIV in health waiver 
applications for both family and skilled visa subclasses. In every health 
waiver application, the PLHIV is subject to a level of scrutiny that their 
counterpart not living with HIV, would not have to be challenged by. If 
they are to have any hope of being successful in their visa application, 
the PLHIV (and their family unit if applicable) is/are required to 
provide documentary evidence demonstrating factors such as their 
financial ability to mitigate the potential cost of healthcare, their social 
and familial ties to Australia, the benefit they provide to the Australian 
community, and any detriment to themselves and their family/
community in the event of a visa refusal.

HALC’s experience is that the discretionary nature of the health 
waiver decision, along with huge variations in the Department of 
Home Affairs (‘the Department’)’s processing times (meaning that 
there is no standard timeframe to receive a decision), results in 
PLHIV enduring months of anxiety and distress at the prospect of 
a visa refusal. In all cases, a decision not to waive the health criteria, 
leading to visa refusal, if not appealed successfully, would result in the 
PLHIV being separated from their family (for family visas), career (for 
skilled visas) or both, in many cases. Additionally, HALC’s extensive 
experience in immigration law informs us that sadly, PLHIV from all 
over the world are at risk of stigma and discrimination which impacts 
all aspects of life, if they are forced to leave Australia and return to 
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their country of nationality, thus heightening feelings of distress when 
applicants are waiting for a decision on their health waiver request.

This financial year, HALC has observed that for a number of Partner 
Visa applicants we represent, for which HALC has already completed 
and submitted health waiver submissions, the Department has been 
issuing new requests for health examinations due to previous health 
results and MOC costings expiring. Thus, through no fault of their 
own, applicants are required to pay the costs of repeat visa medical 
examinations (often over $500 per person) for re-assessment against 
the health criteria, as a direct result of the Department’s own slow 
processing times. After completing repeat health examinations, the 
applicants are then required to re-apply for a health waiver, even 
if their circumstances have not changed substantially, so that the 
Department may make their discretionary assessment of whether or 
not to waive the health requirement. 

For applicants already anxious about the prospect of a visa refusal, 
having spent several years living in and contributing to the Australian 
community and between 1-2 years waiting for a decision on their 
pending health waiver application, receiving a mandatory request for 
new health examinations followed by the request to re-submit a health 
waiver application comes at a high emotional burden in addition 
to the practical costs. The nature of HALC’s client base is such that 
these applicants also tend to be experiencing financial hardship. The 
cost of the repeat medical examinations (results of which are the 
same as previous examinations in a vast majority of cases), would be 
compounded by legal fees for appropriate representation if HALC 
were not able to represent these applicants free of charge. Detailed 
submissions including country information and arguments about 
the decreasing cost of HIV pharmaceuticals, as well as about the 
applicant’s individual circumstances, are required to be re-written 
and re-submitted for a successful application, particularly due to the 
discretionary nature of the decision.

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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The legal requirement that health examination results expire after 
12 months, combined with the department’s own unpredictable and 
hugely varied processing times with no transparency as to which stage 
each application has reached, places a heavy emotional and monetary 
cost on visa applicants. HALC continues to advocate for PLHIV to 
reduce the monetary burden and provides wholistic legal support to 
help mitigate the psychological impact of the uncertainty of the health 
waiver process. This financial year we have had several successful 
health waivers resulting in grants of permanent residency for PLHIV, 
however we have had a greater number of requests for repeat medical 
examinations and health waiver applications, currently pending.
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The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the world in many ways. 
One focal impact has been on the nature of future planning at both 
communal and individual levels. In the communal sense, there is 
the consideration of public health infrastructure, the economy, and 
future development. Whereas on the household and individual level, 
consideration of personal and family health, financial and estate planning 
is at the fore.15  The reasons which underpin this focus are vast, but this 
phenomenon can be distilled down to the fundamental destabilisation 
caused to people’s daily lives. Studies indicate that forced confinement 
and lack of social connection along with the instability and uncertainty 
about our future has given cause to deeper self-reflection.16 

15  Jill Grant, ‘Pandemic Challenges to Planning Prescriptions: How Covid-19 is Changing the 
Ways We Think about Planning’ (2020) 21(5) Planning Theory & Practice 659; Jonathan Fox 
and Suzanne Batholomae, ‘Household finances, financial planning, and COVID-19’ (2020) 3(4) 
Financial Planning Review.

16  Amrit Mishra, ‘Negotiating Choice in the Post Covid Era: An Existential Reading’ (2021) 6(2) An 
Interdisciplinary Journal of Literary Studies

17  Australian Bureau of Statistics, Household Impacts of COVID-19 Survey ‘ Insights into the 
prevalence and nature of impacts from COVID-19 on households in Australia (31 August 2022). 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre

Paul Taylor, 
Solicitor

ESTATE PLANNING AND 
THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC 
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18  World Health Organisation ‘Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and people living with HIV’ report 
(29 July 2022) WHO Website. 

Furthermore, a survey conducted by the Australia Bureau of Statistics 
indicated that as of July 2022, approximately one in four (23%) 
Australians reported that their job situation had changed, including 
either changing jobs, working from home, or being unable to find 
work throughout the pandemic.17

It is quite clear from various material on the subject that the pandemic 
has fostered an environment which only naturally prompts an inclination 
towards estate planning. Firstly, it has elicited a deeper reflection about 
one’s life and mortality. Secondly, it has created financial insecurity and 
uncertainty about the future. Thirdly, it has engendered through isolation 
and separation a more profound appreciation of the people that we care 
about and to whom we may seek to provide posthumous support to. 
And lastly, it has impeded peoples’ ability to pursue recreation the way 
they ordinarily might in the way of socialising, travelling, and sport such 
that there is little left to do other than tend to the more mundane to-dos 
of the humdrum life-admin variety. 

Information provided by the World Health Organisation (WHO) from 
several small-scale studies conducted indicates an increased risk for the 
development of severe illness and death due to COVID-19 for people 
living with HIV. This is also due to the adverse social determinants of 
health and structural factors that may lead to higher SARS-CoV-2 
exposure as well as the high coincidence of comorbidities of people 
living with HIV associated with poorer COVID-19 outcomes. Though 
much research in the area is yet to be conducted, the primary concern 
since the outset of the pandemic has been that people with underlying 
immunocompromising conditions are at a greater risk than the general 
population. Although the WHO has indicated that with the right social 
and structural determinants, properly managed, the adverse risk of 
poorer COVID-19 outcomes to people living with HIV is lessened,18 it is 
nevertheless both understandable and anticipated that those living with 
HIV may be more inclined throughout the pandemic to contemplate 
estate planning. 
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Statistical client data indicates that there has been an increase in 
estate planning related matters from the 3 years preceding the 
COVID-19 pandemic (2017-2019) to the 3 years during and following 
the pandemic (2020-2022). Speaking to anecdotal sources from 
clients, a common throughline has been that testators have cited 
the self-reflection prompted by COVID-19 as one of the reasons for 
engaging estate planning services. On some occasions it has been 
because of the acknowledgement that their health circumstances may 
change rapidly and so wish to prepare for the future unknown. On 
other occasions, in terms of appointing executors and beneficiaries, 
the desire to draft or redraft a Will has been because they have either 
lost touch with people through isolation or have come to realise who 
they can truly rely and depend upon in difficult times. Significant time 
spent away from family overseas has also prompted the need to travel 
and visit their families abroad, and so emerges the need to update 
one’s affairs prior to extended travel. There is nothing to indicate that 
COVID-19 is wholly responsible for any continued engagement or 
increase in our estate planning services, but it has certainly been a 
factor to consider. 

We have been glad to be able to provide those services despite 
some of the difficulties that may coincide with limited face-to-
face appointments. Arguably, there can be some limitations on 
assessing capacity, among other things, when taking instructions via 
telephone as opposed to in person. We have nevertheless been able 
to adapt and adjust to these constraints to ensure that the process is 
nevertheless effective and dependable. It has simply required an extra 
level of care and consideration throughout the process. Speaking 
anecdotally once more, clients have often expressed the sense of 
relief having executed their Will in this post-covid world. There is a 
sense of resolve knowing that should COVID-19 interfere with their 
health, they have taken all reasonable steps possible to ensure that 
their loved ones are looked after in the event of their passing, and that 
they have tended to their affairs. 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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DIVERSION FROM THE 
CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM: 
APPLICATIONS UNDER 
S 14 OF THE MENTAL 
HEALTH AND COGNITIVE 
IMPAIRMENT FORENSIC 
PROVISIONS ACT 2020 

The HIV/AIDS Legal Centre is committed to assisting people in NSW 
with HIV related criminal matters. Often, criminal matters may arise 
from the intersection of client’s HIV status and other mental health 
conditions and/or cognitive impairments. 

Section 14 of the Mental Health and Cognitive Impairment Forensic 
Provisions Act 2020 (previously s 32 under the Mental Health 
(Forensic Provisions) Act 1990) provides an avenue to divert clients 
with mental health and cognitive impairments from the criminal 
justice system when it is in the best interests of all stakeholders – 
the client, community, and any potential victims. Successful s 14 
applicants result in a dismissal of the charges and instead, clients 
must follow a treatment plan prepared by a medical professional, 
which is usually overseen by a responsible person such as the client’s 
doctor, psychologist, psychiatrist or social worker. 

Ashley Ognenovski, 
Solicitor 
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By dealing with criminal matters otherwise than in accordance with 
law, the Courts are providing a mechanism to support and enhance 
the wellbeing of people with mental health conditions and/or 
cognitive impairments. 

However, there are some difficulties representing clients in these 
applications. Firstly, clients may come to us with a criminal matter 
without being engaged with medical professionals for their condition/s 
making it difficult to obtain a report with a treatment plan. Also, it can 
be challenging obtaining a treatment plan for conditions that cannot be 
treated. For example, HIV-Associated Neurocognitive Disorder (HAND) 
affects approximately 1 in 5 people living with HIV. However, the 
cognitive impairments associated with HAND can be managed but the 
condition is unlikely to improve. For this reason, HALC has successfully 
argued for clients with cognitive disorders that the treatment plan is 
not for “treating” or “curing” their condition, but rather, ensuring their 
condition is being managed effectively e.g., through engagement with 
NDIS support services and consistent review by their neurological team. 

When clients come to HALC with criminal matters they are usually 
unaware of s 14 and the positive implications of these applications.  If 
HALC was not here to assist in diverting people with mental health issues 
and cognitive impairments, then there may be a significant increase in 
PLHIV going through the criminal justice system unnecessarily. In doing 
so, the stress and other negativities of the system, and the possibility 
of criminal penalties, may lead to an exacerbation of client’s conditions. 
With HALC’s assistance clients are able to engage effectively with a 
treatment plan prepared by their treating specialists as an alternative 
to criminal sanctions, ensuring justice for PLHIV who also have mental 
health conditions and/or cognitive impairments. 

In the last year HALC has helped a number of clients in successful s 
14 applications where the matters were dismissed. Of these clients, 
4 had mental health condition/s alone and 2 had both mental 
health conditions and cognitive impairments. HALC is committed to 
continuing to divert people living with HIV from the criminal justice 
system through section 14 applications. 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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OUR VOLUNTEERS  
HALC is extremely grateful to have dedicated 
and enthusiastic volunteers who are excited 
to make a real impact through hands on, 
client-facing legal work. 

Our volunteer program gives Practical Legal Training students and 
volunteer solicitors a fantastic opportunity to develop their skills as 
legal professionals. Under the supervision of HALC solicitors, our 
volunteers are provided the opportunity to interview clients, draft 
and deliver legal advice, attend hearings and work directly with the 
clients as their matter progresses.
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Kedrin, one of our volunteers shares their experiences at 
HALC in their testimonial.

“When I applied to volunteer at HALC I had expected to work 
primarily on basic legal research, administrative tasks and answering 
phones. My experience was completely different from what I had 
expected and highly rewarding.

As a volunteer paralegal, I had the opportunity to work closely with 
clients through conducting client intakes, attending interviews, 
taking instructions and answering inquiries. It not only enabled me 
to gain exposure to legal issues, but also allowed me to interact 
with people from different backgrounds. My interpersonal skills 
were strengthened by my experience assisting clients with complex 
needs. I also had the opportunity to practice writing skills through 
drafting court documents, legal advice, and other correspondence 
after participating in client interviews. HALC is a place where you will 
learn practice management and other soft skills that will help you 
become an effective lawyer.

Volunteering at HALC goes beyond getting legal training. It is 
inspiring to see how the HALC team engages in legal advocacy to 
make powerful impacts on people living with HIV. I remember our 
client’s relief and joy when an AVO was issued in their favour against 
someone who maliciously disseminated their HIV status. I recall 
receiving a very joyful phone call from a client who was granted a 
protection visa and insisted they send flowers in person as a gesture 
of gratitude despite the pandemic. I find it incredibly motivating to 
witness how the team’s work can give someone a second chance 
in life, particularly in refugee and protection visa matters. The 
opportunity has allowed me to grow professionally and personally.

This is a fun, nurturing, collaborative, and inclusive workplace. You 
learn what teamwork means. To me, the greatest impact has been 
that HALC has set a bar too high for finding my next ideal work 
environment.”

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre
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Abena Gaul

Alan Dowsett

Alex Feng

Daniel Lee

Isabella Orlic

Jessica Semsarian 

John Tearle

Kedrin Li

Lamya Rahman

Madison Wu

Michael Lin

Mohamed Afifi

Nashita Khan

Samra Karim

Sandeep Gupta

Sarah Koura
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Stephen Usang

William Lam

Yuyan Lin (Yvonne)

HALC Volunteers 2021/2022

We would like to take this opportunity to thank all the HALC 
volunteers that worked with HALC this year.
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Committee Members’ Report 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 
 
The Committee members of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated present their Report together 
with the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022 and the Independent Audit Report 
thereon.  
 
CCoommmmiitttteeee  mmeemmbbeerrss’’  ddeettaaiillss  aanndd  mmeeeettiinnggss    
The following persons were committee members of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated during 
or since the end of the financial year. 
 
The number of meetings of committee members during the year and the number of meetings 
attended by each member is as follows:  
 

NNaammee  DDaattee  ooff  
AAppppooiinnttmmeenntt  

DDaattee  ooff  cceessssaattiioonn  CCoommmmiitttteeee  mmeeeettiinnggss  

   AA  BB  

M Bridgett 18 Sep 2018  6 5 

D Carter 10 Nov 2020  4 4 

A Cogle 12 Feb 2019  6 4 

G Gahl 15 Oct 2014  6 6 

D Schilling 2 Feb 2017  6 6 

A Stratigos 2 May 2017  6 6 
  
AA Number of meetings the Member was entitled to attend 

BB Number of meetings the Member attended  
  
PPrriinncciippaall  aaccttiivviittiieess  
 
The association’s principal activities during the year were the provision of legal services for 
HIV/AIDS related legal matters. There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities 
of the association during the year. 
 
SShhoorrtt  &&  lloonngg--tteerrmm  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  

• To provide free legal advice, assistance and representation (within the operational guidelines 
of HALC) to anyone with an HIV related legal problem. 

• To operate as a not for profit community legal centre specialising in HIV related legal matters 
and, where resources allow, to carry out community education and law reform projects in areas 
relating to HIV/AIDS. 

• To provide legal training, education and experience to employees and volunteers. 
• To build on the skills and expertise developed by the Association in relation to HIV related 

legal problems, to extend the operations of the Association into other specific areas such as 
Hepatitis C related legal problems. 

• To work with other appropriate organisations to achieve the above objectives. 
 

SSttrraatteeggiieess  ttoo  aacchhiieevvee  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  

• Provide up-to-date legal information to target groups. 
• Provide legal services in a flexible manner. 
• Establish and maintain efficient management, administrative and financial reporting systems 

and comply with accountability requirements.    
• Provide community legal education activities to educate and inform both affected   

communities and interested professionals. 
• Conduct law reform activities. 
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Committee Members’ Report 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

SSttrraatteeggiieess  ttoo  aacchhiieevvee  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  continued  

• Provide appropriate ongoing staff training, education and experience in a specialist
community legal centre context.

• Provide an appropriate environment for volunteers to gain experience in a specialist
community legal centre.

• Provide up-to-date legal information, advice and assistance to PLHCV.
• Provide advice and assistance to more people with HIV/AIDS related legal issues.

CCoonnttrriibbuuttiioonn  iinn  wwiinnddiinngg  uupp  

The association is incorporated under the Associations Incorporation Act 2009. If the association 
is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
any unpaid amount in respect of membership fees of the Association which is determined by its 
Committee.   

AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  iinnddeeppeennddeennccee  ddeeccllaarraattiioonn  
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under s.60-40 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 is included on page 6 of this financial report 
and forms part of the Committee Members’ Report.  

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Committee Members. 

GGRREEGGOORRYY  GGAAHHLL  
President 

Sydney 

Dated           /         / 
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Auditor’s 
Independence 

Declaration 

TToo  tthhee  CCoommmmiitttteeee  MMeemmbbeerrss  ooff  HHIIVV//AAIIDDSS  LLeeggaall  CCeennttrree  IInnccoorrppoorraatteedd::  

In accordance with the requirements of section 60-40 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012, as lead auditor for the audit of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 
for the year ended 30 June 2022, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there 
have been:  

(a) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and
Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and

(b) No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

SSTTEEVVEENN  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  &&  CCOO  
Chartered Accountants 

SS  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  
Registered Company 
Auditor No 4286 

Sydney 

Dated: 10 November 2022
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Statement of Surplus or Deficit and 
Other Comprehensive Income    
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 
 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  
   $$  $$  

Revenue 4 668,428 788,952 
Other income 4 15,577 3,147 
Administration expenses  (111,667) (110,919) 
Depreciation expense 8 (4,298) (4,160) 
Employee benefits expense 9 (605,145) (602,833) 
Office overheads  (2,886) (8,821) 

SSuurrpplluuss//((ddeeffiicciitt))  bbeeffoorree  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx   ((3399,,999911))  6655,,336666  
Income tax expense 3.8 - - 

SSuurrpplluuss//((ddeeffiicciitt))  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr   ((3399,,999911))  6655,,336666  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of income tax 

  
 

- 
 

- 

TToottaall  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  iinnccoommee//((lloossss))  ffoorr  tthhee  
yyeeaarr  

  
  

((3399,,999911))  
  

6655,,336666  
 
 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2022 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 
 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  
   $$  $$  

AAsssseettss      
CCuurrrreenntt      
Cash and cash equivalents 55  483,348 530,879 
Trade and other receivables 66  12,146 12,870 
Other assets 77  12,737 5,784 
Current assets   508,231 549,533 

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt      
Plant and equipment 88  29,243 13,642 

Non-current assets   29,243 13,642 

TToottaall  aasssseettss    553377,,447744  556633,,117755  

LLiiaabbiilliittiieess        
CCuurrrreenntt      
Trade and other payables 1100  54,180 52,408 
Provisions 1111  89,217 97,957 
Other liabilities 1122  74,598 58,461 
Current liabilities   217,995 208,826 
NNoonn--CCuurrrreenntt     
Provisions 1111  14,695 9,574 
Non-Current liabilities   14,695 9,574 
TToottaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess   223322,,669900  221188,,440000  

NNeett  aasssseettss    330044,,778844  334444,,777755  

EEqquuiittyy          
General funds - unrestricted     304,784 344,775 

TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy   330044,,778844  334444,,777755  

 
 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.   
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

  

 GGeenneerraall  ffuunnddss  TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy  

 $$  $$  

Balance at 1 July 2019 279,409 279,409 

Surplus for the year 65,366 65,366 
Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 65,366 65,366 

BBaallaannccee  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  22002211  334444,,777755  334444,,777755  

Balance at 1 July 2021 344,775 344,775 

Deficit for the year (39,991) (39,991) 
Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year (39,991) (39,991) 

BBaallaannccee  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  22002222  330044,,778844  330044,,778844  

 
 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 
 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  
   $$  $$  

OOppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess      
Receipts from:     
• Interest income   42            193  

• Government grants   568,916     615,720  

• Government support for COVID   60,574      82,996  

• Donations and fundraising   32,966        16,174  

• Clients   99,112       93,214  
Payments to clients, suppliers and employees:      
• Suppliers & employees   (789,242)   (739,280)  

NNeett  ccaasshh  pprroovviiddeedd  bbyy  ooppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess    ((2277,,663322))            6699,,001177    
IInnvveessttiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess       
Purchases of plant and equipment 88 (19,899)       (4,053)  
NNeett  ccaasshh  uusseedd  iinn  iinnvveessttiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess   ((1199,,889999))            ((44,,005533))    
Net change in cash and cash equivalents    (47,531)     64,964  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   530,879     465,915  

CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss,,  eenndd  ooff  yyeeaarr 55  448833,,334488      553300,,887799    

 
 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued          

33..22        RReevveennuuee  
Revenue comprises revenue from the delivery of services, government grants, fundraising 
activities and client contributions. Revenue from services and donations is shown in Note 4.  
 
The association recognises revenue under AASB 1058 or AASB 15 when appropriate. In cases 
where there is an ‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently specific’ performance 
obligations, the transaction is accounted for under AASB 15 where income is recognised when (or 
as) the performance obligations are satisfied (i.e. when it transfers control of a product or service 
to a customer). Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the association expects 
to be entitled in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third 
parties. In other cases, AASB 1058 applies when a NFP entity enters into transactions where the 
consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than the fair value of the asset principally to 
enable the entity to further its objectives and the excess of the asset recognised (at fair value) 
over any ‘related amounts’ is recognised as income immediately. The association recognises 
revenue from the following major sources: 
 
GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  ggrraannttss    
A number of the association’s programs are supported by grants received from the Federal, State 
and Local governments. Grant Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 15 if the contract 
has sufficiently specific performance obligations.  
 
Grant income from contracts that do not contain sufficiently specific performance obligations is 
recognised under AASB 1058 as income when the association obtains control over the funds. 
 
CClliieenntt  ddiissbbuurrsseemmeennttss  
Fees charged for care or services provided to clients are recognised when the service is provided. 
 
DDoonnaattiioonnss    
Donations collected, including cash and goods for resale, are recognised as revenue when the 
association gains control, economic benefits are probable and the amount of the donation can be 
measured reliably. 
 
IInntteerreesstt  iinnccoommee  
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method. 
Dividend income are recognised at the time the right to receive payment is established. 
 
33..33 iiiiiiiiOOppeerraattiinngg  eexxppeennsseess  
Operating expenses are recognised in surplus or deficit upon utilisation of the service or at the 
date of their origin.   
 
33..44 IIiiii  iiIInnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss  
Recognition of other intangible assets: 
 
AAccqquuiirreedd  iinnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss  
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire 
and install the specific software. 
 
SSuubbsseeqquueenntt  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  
All intangible assets are accounted for using the cost model whereby capitalised costs are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as these assets are considered 
finite. Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date. In addition, they are 
subject to impairment testing.  
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued 

33..44        IInnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseessttss  continued 
Amortisation is included within depreciation and amortisation. 
 
Subsequent expenditures on the maintenance of computer software and brand names are 
expensed as incurred. 
 
When an intangible asset is disposed of, the gain or loss on disposal is determined as the 
difference between the proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and is recognised in 
surplus or deficit within other income or other expenses. 
 
33..55            PPllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt    
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and less any impairment losses recognised after the date of revaluation. 
 
Items of plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives to the association from the 
time the asset is held ready for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
expected useful economic lives of the assets as follows: 
 
Computer equipment          3 - 5 years  
Furniture and fittings    6 - 10 years 
 
IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, 
with recoverable amounts being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying values may be impaired. 
 
The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. Depreciated replacement cost is used to determine value in use. Depreciated 
replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an item of plant and equipment less, where 
applicable, accumulated depreciation to date, calculated on the basis of such cost. 
 
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset exceeds the estimated recoverable amount. 
The asset is then written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of surplus or deficit and other comprehensive 
income. 
 
DDee--rreeccooggnniittiioonn  &&  ddiissppoossaall  
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when the item is no longer used 
in the operations of the association. Any gain or loss arising from the de-recognition is recognised 
in the statement of surplus or deficit and other comprehensive income. 
 
33..66       LLeeaasseess  
OOppeerraattiinngg  lleeaasseess    
The association does not enter into any contracts that can be classified as a lease as defined in 
AASB 16. Payments for rent are paid on a month-to-month basis and expenses are recognised as 
they are incurred.  

 
33..77       FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the association becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value 
adjusted by transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through surplus or deficit, 
which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities are described below.  
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33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued 

33..77          FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  continued 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A 
financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.  
  
CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn  aanndd  ssuubbsseeqquueenntt  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss    
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are 
measured at the transaction price, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted 
for transaction costs (where applicable).  
 
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and 
effective as hedging instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial 
recognition:  
 
• amortised cost  
• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)  
• equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)  
 
 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in the Statement of 
Surplus or Deficit and Other Comprehensive Income are presented within finance costs, finance 
income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented 
within other expenses.  
 
Classifications are determined by both:  
 
• The entity’s business model for managing the financial asset  
• The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets  
 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in surplus or deficit are 
presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of 
trade receivables, which is presented within other expenses.  
  
SSuubbsseeqquueenntt  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss    
FFiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  aatt  aammoorrttiisseedd  ccoosstt    
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and 
are not designated as FVPL):  
 
• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect 

its contractual cash flows  
• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding  
 
After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The association’s cash and 
cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments 
as well as long-term deposit that were previously classified as held-to-maturity under AASB 139.  
  
FFiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  aatt  ffaaiirr  vvaalluuee  tthhrroouugghh  pprrooffiitt  oorr  lloossss  ((FFVVPPLL))    
Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold 
to collect and sell’ are categorised at fair value through surplus and deficit. Further, irrespective 
of business model financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of 
principal and interest are accounted for at FVPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this 
category, except for those designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge 
accounting requirements apply (see below).  
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33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued 

33..77          FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  continued 
EEqquuiittyy  iinnssttrruummeennttss  aatt  ffaaiirr  vvaalluuee  tthhrroouugghh  ootthheerr  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  iinnccoommee  ((EEqquuiittyy  FFVVOOCCII))    
Investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading are eligible for an irrevocable 
election at inception to be measured at FVOCI. Under Equity FVOCI, subsequent movements in 
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and are never reclassified to surplus or 
deficit. Dividend from these investments continue to be recorded as other income within the 
surplus or deficit unless the dividend clearly represents return of capital.  
  
TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  rreecceeiivvaabblleess   
The association makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables 
and records the loss allowance at the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit losses. In using 
this practical expedient, the association uses its historical experience, external indicators and 
forward-looking information to calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix.  
The association assess impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they possess credit 
risk characteristics based on the days past due.  
 
CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn  aanndd  mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess    
As the accounting for financial liabilities remains largely unchanged from AASB 139, the 
association’s financial liabilities were not impacted by the adoption of AASB 9. However, for 
completeness, the accounting policy is disclosed below. The association’s financial liabilities 
include borrowings and trade and other payables. Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair 
value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the association designated a 
financial liability at fair value through surplus or deficit.  
 
Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method except for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried 
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised in surplus or deficit (other than 
derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedging instruments).  
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are 
reported in surplus or deficit are included within finance costs or finance income.  
 
33..88 iiiiiiTTaaxxaattiioonn  
IInnccoommee  TTaaxx  
The association is a public benevolent institution for the purposes of Australian taxation legislation 
and is therefore exempt from income tax. This exemption has been confirmed by the Australian 
Taxation Office. The association holds deductible gift recipient status.  
 
GGooooddss  aanndd  sseerrvviicceess  ttaaxx  ((GGSSTT))  
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these 
circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown 
inclusive of GST. 
 
Receivables and payables are recognised inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from or payable to the ATO is included as part of receivables or payables. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from or payable to 
the ATO is classified as operating cash flows. 
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33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued 

33..99          CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss   
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in 
hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purposes 
of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of any outstanding 
bank overdrafts. 
 
33..1100 EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  
SShhoorrtt--tteerrmm  eemmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  
Short-term employee benefits are benefits, other than termination benefits, that are expected to 
be settled wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the period in which the employees 
render the related service.  Examples of such benefits include wages and salaries, non-monetary 
benefits and accumulating sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the 
undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 
OOtthheerr  lloonngg--tteerrmm  eemmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  
The association’s liabilities for long service leave are included in other long-term benefits as they 
are not expected to be settled wholly within twelve (12) months after the end of the period in 
which the employees render the related service. They are measured at the present value of the 
expected future payments to be made to employees. The expected future payments incorporate 
anticipated future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the 
timing of the estimated future cash outflows. Any re-measurements arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in assumptions are recognised in surplus or deficit in the periods in 
which the changes occur. 
 
The association presents employee benefit obligations as current liabilities in the statement of 
financial position if the association does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at 
least twelve (12) months after the reporting period, irrespective of when the actual settlement is 
expected to take place. 
 
PPoosstt--eemmppllooyymmeenntt  bbeenneeffiittss  ppllaannss  
The association provides post-employment benefits through defined contribution plans. 
 
DDeeffiinneedd  ccoonnttrriibbuuttiioonn  ppllaannss  
The association pays fixed contributions into independent entities in relation to several state plans 
and insurance for individual employees. The association has no legal or constructive obligations 
to pay contributions in addition to its fixed contributions, which are recognised as an expense in 
the period that relevant employee services are received. 
 
33..1111         PPrroovviissiioonnss,,  ccoonnttiinnggeenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  aanndd  ccoonnttiinnggeenntt  aasssseettss  
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, 
based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and 
uncertainties associated with the present obligation.  Provisions are discounted to their present 
values, where the time value of money is material. No liability is recognised if an outflow of 
economic resources as a result of present obligation is not probable.  Such situations are disclosed 
as contingent liabilities, unless the outflow of resources is remote in which case no liability is 
recognised. 
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33 SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  continued 

33..1122      EEccoonnoommiicc  ddeeppeennddeennccee     
The committee members present the financial statements which report a deficit of $39,991 (2021 
Surplus: $65,366) for the year ended 30 June 2022 and net assets of $304,784 (2021: $344,775) 
as at 30 June 2022. The association’s ability to continue as a going concern in the ensuing financial 
year and subsequent financial years is dependent upon the association’s ability to continuously 
source grant funding, donations and fundraising and services income. 
 
33..1133  SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  jjuuddggeemmeenntt  iinn  aappppllyyiinngg  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  
When preparing the financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. 
 
EEssttiimmaattiioonn  uunncceerrttaaiinnttyy    
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition 
and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below.  Actual results may 
be substantially different. 
  
IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt    
In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or cash-
generating unit based on expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate to discount them.  
Estimation uncertainty relates to assumptions about future operating results and the 
determination of a suitable discount rate.  
 
UUsseeffuull  lliivveess  ooff  ddeepprreecciiaabbllee  aasssseettss  
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, 
based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical 
obsolescence that may change the utility of certain assets. 
 
LLoonngg  sseerrvviiccee  lleeaavvee    
The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present value of the 
estimated cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date.  In determining 
the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion 
and inflation have been taken into account. 
 
PPeerrffoorrmmaannccee  oobblliiggaattiioonnss  uunnddeerr  AAAASSBB  1155  
To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to 
be able to determine when the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to 
determine whether the promise is sufficiently specific by taking into account any conditions 
specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding the promised goods or services. In 
making this assessment, management includes the nature/ type, cost/ value, quantity and the 
period of transfer related to the goods or services promised. 
 
CCoorroonnaavviirruuss  ((CCOOVVIIDD--1199))  ppaannddeemmiicc  
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
pandemic has had, or may have, on the association based on known information. This 
consideration extends to the nature of the products and services offered, customers, supply chain, 
staffing and geographic regions in which the association operates. Other than as addressed in 
specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the 
financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which 
may impact the association unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of 
the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 
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44 RReevveennuuee  

The Association’s revenue may be analysed as follows for each major product and service 
category: 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

  $$  $$  

RReevveennuuee     
Donations and fundraising  32,089 24,293 
Disbursements recovered  - 20,973 
Grant income 4.1 495,650 632,185 
Government support for COVID-19  60,574 70,737 
Legal fee and service income  80,115 40,764 
    668,428 788,952 
OOtthheerr  iinnccoommee     
Interest income  42 193 
Sundry income  15,535 2,954 
    15,577 3,147 

TToottaall  rreevveennuuee  aanndd  ootthheerr  iinnccoommee   668844,,000055  779922,,009999  

 

44..11        GGoovveerrnnmmeenntt  ggrraannttss    

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Unexpended grants – 1 July 44..22  30,143 122,583 

Grants received in advance – 1 July 44..33  20,000 - 
Grants received during the year 44..44  517,196 559,745 

   567,339 682,328 

Less:     

Grants received in advance – 30 June 44..55  (69,334) (20,000) 

Unexpended grants – 30 June  44..66  (2,355) (30,143) 

   (71,689) (50,143) 

Net grant revenue   449955,,665500  663322,,118855  
 

44..22  UUnneexxppeennddeedd  ggrraannttss  ––  11  JJuullyy    

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Legal Aid NSW – State and Public Purpose Fund  - 86,935 
Attorney General’s Dept – Commonwealth  - 35,648 
Legal Aid NSW – Direct Sector Transformation  10,000 - 
Legal Aid NSW – COVID-19 Legal Assistance  20,143 - 

    3300,,114433  112222,,558833  
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44 RReevveennuuee  continued  

44..33    GGrraannttss  rreecceeiivveedd  iinn  aaddvvaannccee  ––  11  JJuullyy      

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Legal Aid NSW – Open Sector Transformation   20,000 - 

    2200,,000000  --  

  

44..44  GGrraannttss  rreecceeiivveedd  dduurriinngg  tthhee  yyeeaarr  

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Legal Aid NSW – State and Public Purpose Fund  384,932 326,704 
Attorney General’s Dept – Commonwealth  109,453 107,641 
Legal Aid NSW – Other   3,993 - 
ViiV Healthcare Australia – Community Grant  11,818 - 
Legal Aid NSW – COVID-19 Legal Assistance  - 67,400 
Legal Aid NSW – COVID-19 ICT Funding  - 18,000 
Legal Aid NSW – Open Sector Transformation   - 20,000 
Legal Aid NSW – Direct Sector Transformation  7,000 20,000 

    551177,,119966  555599,,774455 

  

44..55    GGrraannttss  rreecceeiivveedd  iinn  aaddvvaannccee  ––  3300  JJuunnee      

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Legal Aid NSW – Open Sector Transformation   - 20,000 
Legal Aid NSW – State and Public Purpose Fund  57,516 - 
ViiV Healthcare Australia – Community Grant  11,818 - 

  1122  6699,,333344  2200,,000000 

  

44..66    UUnneexxppeennddeedd  ggrraannttss  ––  3300  JJuunnee  

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Legal Aid NSW – State and Public Purpose Fund   - 
Attorney General’s Dept – Commonwealth   - 
Legal Aid NSW – Direct Sector Transformation  2,355 10,000 
Legal Aid NSW – COVID-19 Legal Assistance  - 20,143 

  1122  22,,335555  3300,,114433  
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55 CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following: 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Cash on hand and at bank   483,348 530,879 

CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss    448833,,334488  553300,,887799  

66 TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  rreecceeiivvaabblleess    

Trade and other receivables consist of the following: 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Trade receivables   2,449 2,296 
Fundraising income receivable   9,697 10,574 

   1122,,114466  1122,,887700  

77 OOtthheerr  aasssseettss  

Other assets consist of the following: 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Prepayments  12,737 5,784 

  1122,,773377  55,,778844  

  

88 PPllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

Details of the association’s plant and equipment and their carrying amount are as follows: 

 
 
 

 
CCoommppuutteerr  

eeqquuiippmmeenntt  
OOffffiiccee  ffuurrnniittuurree  
aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

  
                    TToottaall  

 $$  $$                      $$  

22002222     
Balance 1 July 2021 36,835 7,763 44,598 
Additions 19,899 - 19,899 
Balance 30 June 2022 56,734 7,763 64,497 

DDeepprreecciiaattiioonn  aanndd  iimmppaaiirrmmeenntt     
Balance 1 July 2021 (25,947) (5,009) (30,956) 
Depreciation (3,904) (394) (4,298) 
Balance 30 June 2022 (29,851) (5,403) (35,254) 

CCaarrrryyiinngg  aammoouunntt  3300  JJuunnee  22002222  2266,,888833  22,,336600  2299,,224433  
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88 PPllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  continued  

Details of the association’s plant and equipment and their carrying amount are as follows: 

99 EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  eexxppeennssee  

Employee benefits expenditure may be analysed as follows: 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Wages and salaries   551,843 502,621 
Superannuation   56,435 50,344 
Movements in employee benefits provisions   (3,619) 46,803 
Staff training and development   486 3,065 

TToottaall  eemmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  eexxppeennssee    660055,,114455  660022,,883333  

1100 TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  ppaayyaabblleess  

Trade and other payables recognised consist of the following: 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

CCuurrrreenntt::     
Accrued charges  30,239 25,899 
ATO liabilities  23,936 26,739 
Trade creditors  5 (230) 

   5544,,118800  5522,,440088  

  

 

 

  CCoommppuutteerr  
eeqquuiippmmeenntt 

OOffffiiccee  ffuurrnniittuurree  
aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt 

  
                    TToottaall 

  $$ $$                     $$ 

22002211     
Balance 1 July 2019 33,744 6,801 40,545 
Additions 3,091 962 4,053 
Balance 30 June 2021 36,835 7,763 44,598 

DDeepprreecciiaattiioonn  aanndd  iimmppaaiirrmmeenntt     
Balance 1 July 2019 (22,278) (4,518) (26,796) 
Depreciation (3,669) (491) (4,160) 
Balance 30 June 2021 (25,947) (5,009) (30,956) 

CCaarrrryyiinngg  aammoouunntt  3300  JJuunnee  22002211  1100,,888888  22,,775544  1133,,664422  
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88 PPllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  continued  

Details of the association’s plant and equipment and their carrying amount are as follows: 

99 EEmmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  eexxppeennssee  

Employee benefits expenditure may be analysed as follows: 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Wages and salaries   551,843 502,621 
Superannuation   56,435 50,344 
Movements in employee benefits provisions   (3,619) 46,803 
Staff training and development   486 3,065 

TToottaall  eemmppllooyyeeee  bbeenneeffiittss  eexxppeennssee    660055,,114455  660022,,883333  

1100 TTrraaddee  aanndd  ootthheerr  ppaayyaabblleess  

Trade and other payables recognised consist of the following: 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

CCuurrrreenntt::     
Accrued charges  30,239 25,899 
ATO liabilities  23,936 26,739 
Trade creditors  5 (230) 

   5544,,118800  5522,,440088  

  

 

 

  CCoommppuutteerr  
eeqquuiippmmeenntt 

OOffffiiccee  ffuurrnniittuurree  
aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt 

  
                    TToottaall 

  $$ $$                     $$ 

22002211     
Balance 1 July 2019 33,744 6,801 40,545 
Additions 3,091 962 4,053 
Balance 30 June 2021 36,835 7,763 44,598 

DDeepprreecciiaattiioonn  aanndd  iimmppaaiirrmmeenntt     
Balance 1 July 2019 (22,278) (4,518) (26,796) 
Depreciation (3,669) (491) (4,160) 
Balance 30 June 2021 (25,947) (5,009) (30,956) 

CCaarrrryyiinngg  aammoouunntt  3300  JJuunnee  22002211  1100,,888888  22,,775544  1133,,664422  

halc.org.au  |  65



Page | 22 
 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 
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1111 PPrroovviissiioonnss  

Provisions for employee benefits are as follows: 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

CCuurrrreenntt::     
Annual leave  62,396 74,378 
Long service leave  26,821 23,579 

  8899,,221177  9977,,995577  

NNoonn--CCuurrrreenntt::       
Long service leave  14,695 9,574 

  1144,,669955  99,,557744 

1122 OOtthheerr  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  

Other liabilities recognised consist of the following: 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

CCuurrrreenntt::     
Income received in advance  2,909 8,318 
Grants received in advance 4.5 69,334 20,000 
Unexpended grants 4.6 2,355 30,143 

  7744,,559988  5588,,446611 

1133 RReellaatteedd  ppaarrttyy  ttrraannssaaccttiioonnss    

The association’s related parties include the Executive Members of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre 
Incorporated’s Committee Members. The Members did not receive any remuneration during the 
2022 financial year. 
 
1133..11      TTrraannssaaccttiioonnss  wwiitthh  kkeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ppeerrssoonnnneell  
Key management of the association are the Executive Members of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre 
Incorporated’s Committee. Key management personnel remuneration includes the following 
expenses: 

 22002222  22002211  

 $$  $$  

Total key management personnel remuneration 126,917 122,606 

1144 CCoonnttiinnggeenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  

There are no contingent liabilities that have been incurred by the association in relation to 2022 
or 2021. 
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1155 PPoosstt--rreeppoorrttiinngg  ddaattee  eevveennttss  

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has been financially 
positive for the association up to 30 June 2022, it is not practicable to estimate the potential 
impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is 
dependent on measures imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, such as 
maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic 
stimulus that may be provided. 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 1 July 2022 that has significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect the association’s operations, the results of those operations, or the 
association’s state of affairs in future financial years. 

1166 MMeemmbbeerrss’’  gguuaarraanntteeee    

The association is incorporated under the Associations Incorporation Act 2009. If the association 
is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
any unpaid amount in respect of membership fee of the association which is determined by its 
Committee. 

1177 AAddddiittiioonnaall  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  uunnddeerr  tthhee  CChhaarriittaabbllee  FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  AAcctt  11999911  NNSSWW  

((aa)) DDeettaaiillss  ooff  ggrroossss  iinnccoommee  aanndd  eexxppeennddiittuurree  ffrroomm  ffuunnddrraaiissiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess::    

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Gross income from fundraising activities   32,089 24,293 
Less:    
Merchant and fundraising platform fees  (1,038) (441) 

SSuurrpplluuss  ffrroomm  ffuunnddrraaiissiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess  3311,,005511  2233,,885522  

  
((bb))  SSttaatteemmeenntt  sshhoowwiinngg  hhooww  ffuunnddss  wweerree  aapppplliieedd  ffoorr  cchhaarriittaabbllee  ppuurrppoosseess  
The surplus from fundraising activities is utilised through retained earnings to achieve the 
organisation’s charitable objects. 

  
((cc)) FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  aappppeeaallss  ccoonndduucctteedd  tthhrroouugghhoouutt  tthhee  yyeeaarr  
During the year ended 30 June 2022, the following charitable fundraising appeals were made to 
the public as follows: 
  
GGeenneerraall  ddoonnaattiioonnss  dduurriinngg  tthhee  yyeeaarr  eennddeedd  3300  JJuunnee  22002222..  
  
((dd)) AAsssseettss  aanndd  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  rreessuullttiinngg  ffrroomm  ffuunnddrraaiissiinngg::  

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

AAsssseettss    
Cash generated from fundraising activities  31,928 13,278 
Fundraising income receivable  9,697 10,574 

SSuurrpplluuss  ffrroomm  ffuunnddrraaiissiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess  4411,,662255  2233,,885522 
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1155 PPoosstt--rreeppoorrttiinngg  ddaattee  eevveennttss  

The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has been financially 
positive for the association up to 30 June 2022, it is not practicable to estimate the potential 
impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is 
dependent on measures imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, such as 
maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic 
stimulus that may be provided. 

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 1 July 2022 that has significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect the association’s operations, the results of those operations, or the 
association’s state of affairs in future financial years. 

1166 MMeemmbbeerrss’’  gguuaarraanntteeee    

The association is incorporated under the Associations Incorporation Act 2009. If the association 
is wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of 
any unpaid amount in respect of membership fee of the association which is determined by its 
Committee. 

1177 AAddddiittiioonnaall  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn  uunnddeerr  tthhee  CChhaarriittaabbllee  FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  AAcctt  11999911  NNSSWW  

((aa)) DDeettaaiillss  ooff  ggrroossss  iinnccoommee  aanndd  eexxppeennddiittuurree  ffrroomm  ffuunnddrraaiissiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess::    

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Gross income from fundraising activities   32,089 24,293 
Less:    
Merchant and fundraising platform fees  (1,038) (441) 

SSuurrpplluuss  ffrroomm  ffuunnddrraaiissiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess  3311,,005511  2233,,885522  

  
((bb))  SSttaatteemmeenntt  sshhoowwiinngg  hhooww  ffuunnddss  wweerree  aapppplliieedd  ffoorr  cchhaarriittaabbllee  ppuurrppoosseess  
The surplus from fundraising activities is utilised through retained earnings to achieve the 
organisation’s charitable objects. 

  
((cc)) FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  aappppeeaallss  ccoonndduucctteedd  tthhrroouugghhoouutt  tthhee  yyeeaarr  
During the year ended 30 June 2022, the following charitable fundraising appeals were made to 
the public as follows: 
  
GGeenneerraall  ddoonnaattiioonnss  dduurriinngg  tthhee  yyeeaarr  eennddeedd  3300  JJuunnee  22002222..  
  
((dd)) AAsssseettss  aanndd  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  rreessuullttiinngg  ffrroomm  ffuunnddrraaiissiinngg::  

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

AAsssseettss    
Cash generated from fundraising activities  31,928 13,278 
Fundraising income receivable  9,697 10,574 

SSuurrpplluuss  ffrroomm  ffuunnddrraaiissiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess  4411,,662255  2233,,885522 
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1188 FFiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  aanndd  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  

The carrying amounts presented in the statement of financial position relate to the following 
categories of current assets and liabilities: 

 NNoottee  22002222  22002211  

   $$  $$  

Financial assets measured at amortised cost    
Cash and cash equivalents  5 483,348 530,879 
Trade and other receivables  6 12,146 12,870 

   495,494 543,749 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost     
Trade and other payables 10 54,180 52,408 

  5544,,118800  5522,,440088 

1199 RReemmuunneerraattiioonn  ooff  aauuddiittoorrss  

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Steven 
J Miller & Co, the auditor of the company: 

 22002222 22002211 
 $$ $$ 

Audit services – Steven J Miller & Co   
Audit of the financial statements 7,450 7,350 

 77,,445500  77,,335500  
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Committee Members’ Declaration 

In the opinion of the Committee members of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated: 

(a) The financial statements and notes of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated are in
accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012,
including;

(i) Giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its
performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Simplified Disclosures
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012;

(b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated will be
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable (Refer Note 3.12).

DDeeccllaarraattiioonn  bbyy  DDiirreeccttoorrss  aass  rreeqquuiirreedd  bbyy  tthhee  CChhaarriittaabbllee  FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  AAcctt  11999911  ((NNSSWW))  

a) the accounts for the year ended 30 June 2022, give a true and fair view of all income and
expenditure of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre with respect to fundraising appeals; and

b) the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022 gives a true and fair view of the state
of affairs with respect to fundraising appeals; and

c) the provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 (NSW) and the regulations under that
Act and the conditions attached to the authority have been complied with; and

d) the internal controls exercised by HIV/AIDS Legal Centre are appropriate and effective in
accounting for all income received and applied from any of its fundraising appeals.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the responsible entities. 

GGRREEGGOORRYY  GGAAHHLL  
President 

Sydney  

Date     /     / 
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report 

To the members of 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

RReeppoorrtt  oonn  tthhee  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  RReeppoorrtt  

OOppiinniioonn  
I have audited the financial report of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated, which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the Statement of Surplus or Deficit and Other 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Funds and Statement of Cash Flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, and the Committee members’ declaration.  

In my opinion, the financial report of HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated has been prepared in 
accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, 
including:  

(a) Giving a true and fair view of the association’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

(b) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards – AASB 1060: General Purpose Financial 
Statements – Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit Tier 2 Entities and
Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.

BBaassiiss  ffoorr  OOppiinniioonn  
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report section of my report. I am independent of the registered entity in accordance 
with the auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act) and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional 
and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) 
that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion.  

OOtthheerr  IInnffoorrmmaattiioonn  
Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the registered entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 
June 2022, but does not include the financial report and my auditor’s report.  

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion. 

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial report or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.  

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.  
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Independent 
Auditor’s Report 

To the members of 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

CCoommmmiitttteeee  mmeemmbbeerrss’’  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittyy  ffoorr  tthhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  RReeppoorrtt      
The Committee members of the association are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
ACNC Act, and for such internal control as the Committee members determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, committee members are responsible for assessing the registered 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the committee members either 
intends to liquidate the registered entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 
to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the registered entity’s financial 
reporting process.  

AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittyy  ffoorr  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  RReeppoorrtt  
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the registered entity’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by committee members.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the committee members’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the registered entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am
required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. My conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the registered entity to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the members of 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittyy  ffoorr  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  RReeppoorrtt  continued  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

AAddddiittiioonnaall  SSccooppee  PPuurrssuuaanntt  ttoo  tthhee  CChhaarriittaabbllee  FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  AAcctt  11999911  
In addition, my audit report has been prepared for the members of the association in accordance 
with Section 24(2) of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991. 

Accordingly, I have performed additional work beyond that which is performed in my capacity as 
auditor. These additional procedures included obtaining an understanding of the internal control 
structure for fund raising appeal activities and examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting 
compliance with the accounting and associated record keeping requirements for fundraising 
appeal activities pursuant to the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and Regulations. It should be 
noted that the accounting records and data relied upon for reporting on fundraising appeal 
activities are not continuously audited and do not necessarily reflect after the event accounting 
adjustments and the normal period end financial adjustments for such matters as accrual, 
prepayments, provisioning and valuation necessary for year-end financial statement preparation. 
The performance of my audit included a review of internal controls for the purpose of determining 
the appropriate audit procedures to enable an opinion to be expressed on the financial 
statements. The review is not a comprehensive review of all those systems or of the system taken 
as a whole and is not designed to uncover all weaknesses in those systems. The audit opinion 
expressed in this report pursuant to the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and Regulations has been 
formed on the above basis. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 

OOppiinniioonn  ppuurrssuuaanntt  ttoo  tthhee  CChhaarriittaabbllee  FFuunnddrraaiissiinngg  AAcctt  11999911  

In my opinion: 

(a) The financial report of the association gives a true and fair view of the financial result of
fundraising appeal activities for the year ended 30 June 2022; and

(b) The financial report has been properly drawn up, and the associated records have been
properly kept for the year ended 30 June 2022, in accordance with the Charitable Fundraising
Act 1991 and its Regulations.

SSTTEEVVEENN  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  &&  CCOO  
Chartered Accountants 

SS  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  
Registered Company 
Auditor No 4286 
Sydney 

Dated: 29 November 2022
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Additional Financial 
Information Disclaimer 

HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

The additional financial data presented on pages 30 and 31 are in accordance with the books and 
records of the association which have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in my 
statutory audit of the association for the year ended 30 June 2022. It will be appreciated that my 
statutory audit did not cover all details of the additional financial information. Accordingly, I do 
not express an opinion on such financial information and no warranty of accuracy or reliability is 
given. 

In accordance with my firm's policy, I advise that neither the firm nor any member or employee of 
the firm undertakes responsibility arising in any way whatsoever to any person (other than the 
association) in respect of such information, including any errors or omissions therein, arising 
through negligence or otherwise however caused. 

SSTTEEVVEENN  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  &&  CCOO  
Chartered Accountants 

SS  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  
Registered Company 
Auditor No 4286 

Sydney 

Dated: 29 November 2022
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not express an opinion on such financial information and no warranty of accuracy or reliability is 
given. 

In accordance with my firm's policy, I advise that neither the firm nor any member or employee of 
the firm undertakes responsibility arising in any way whatsoever to any person (other than the 
association) in respect of such information, including any errors or omissions therein, arising 
through negligence or otherwise however caused. 

SSTTEEVVEENN  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  &&  CCOO  
Chartered Accountants 

SS  JJ  MMIILLLLEERR  
Registered Company 
Auditor No 4286 

Sydney 

Dated: 29 November 2022
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                  Detailed Statement of 
Surplus or Deficit 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

SSCCHHEEDDUULLEE  11  ––  GGEENNEERRAALL  OOPPEERRAATTIIOONNSS 

  NNoottee  22002222  22002211  
  SScchh  $$  $$  

IINNCCOOMMEE     
Disbursements recovered  - 20,973 
Donations received  32,089 24,293 
Government grants 4.1 495,650 632,185 
Government support for COVID-19  60,574 70,737 
Investment income:    
• Interest  42 193 

Legal fees and service income  80,115 40,764 
Publication fee    
Sundry income  15,535 2,954 
TOTAL INCOME  684,005 792,099 
LESS: EXPENDITURE Sch 2 (723,996) (726,733) 

NNEETT  SSUURRPPLLUUSS//((DDEEFFIICCIITT))  ((3399,,999911))  6655,,336666  

 
 
The above UNAUDITED detailed statement of surplus or deficit should be read in conjunction with the 
disclaimer. 
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Detailed Statement of 
 Surplus or Deficit 

For the year ended 30 June 2022 
HIV/AIDS Legal Centre Incorporated 

SSCCHHEEDDUULLEE  22  ––  EEXXPPEENNDDIITTUURREE 

  NNoottee  22002222  22002211  
    $$  $$  

EEXXPPEENNSSEESS     
Advertising and promotion  2,661 139 
Annual leave provided/(written-back)  (11,982) 32,586 
Audit and accounting fees  38,549 38,048 
Bank charges  1,038 823 
Client disbursements   197 21,055 
Communications  10,929 11,357 
Consultancy fees  8,091 - 
Depreciation of plant and equipment   4,298 4,160 
General expenses  7,674 6,197 
Insurance   3,184 3,768 
Library  expenses  - 571 
Long service leave provided   8,363 14,217 
Office expenses  2,886 8,821 
Practicing certificate    5,845 3,872 
Publication   4,183 - 
Rent    19,429 16,089 
Salaries   551,843 502,621 
Staff training  486 3,065 
Superannuation  56,435 50,344 
Travel and accommodation  1,121 - 
Utilities  8,766 9,000 

TTOOTTAALL  EEXXPPEENNDDIITTUURREE  772233,,999966  772266,,773333  

 
 
The above UNAUDITED detailed statement of surplus or deficit should be read in conjunction 
with the disclaimer. 
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